NOMINATION OF HiISTORIC BUILDING, STRUCTURE, SITE, OR OBJECT
PHILADELPHIA REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

PHILADELPHIA HiSTORICAL COMMISSION

SUBMIT ALL ATTACHED MATERIALS ON PAPER AND IN ELECTRONIC FORM (CD, EMAIL, FLASH DRIVE)
ELECTRONIC FILES MUST BE WORD OR WORD COMPATIBLE

1. ADDRESS OF HISTORIC RESOURCE (must comply with an Office of Property Assessment address)
Street address: 6658 Keystone Street

Postal code: 19135

2. NAME OF HISTORIC RESOURCE
Historic Name: St. Leo the Great Roman Catholic Church

Current/Common Name: St. Leo's" or "St. Leo's of Tacony"

3. TYPE OF HISTORIC RESOURCE
Building [ ] Structure [ ] Site [ ] Object

4. PROPERTY INFORMATION
Condition: [ ] excellent good [ ] fair (] poor (] ruins

Occupancy: [ ] occupied vacant [] under construction [] unknown
Current use: None; currently on market for sale

5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Please attach a narrative description and site/plot plan of the resource’s boundaries.

6. DESCRIPTION
Please attach a narrative description and photographs of the resource’s physical appearance, site, setting,
and surroundings.

7. SIGNIFICANCE
Please attach a narrative Statement of Significance citing the Criteria for Designation the resource satisfies.
Period of Significance (from year to year): from 1890 to 1900
Date(s) of construction and/or alteration: C- 1892 10 1894 (superstructure)

Architect, engineer, and/or designer: Frank R. Watson (1859-1940)

Builder, contractor, and/or artisan: Nicholas Cavanaugh

Original owner: Archdiocese of Philadelphia

Other significant persons:




CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION:

The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply):

|:| (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural
characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person
significant in the past; or,

(b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation;
or,

(c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or,

(d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or,
(e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work
has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of
the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,

(f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant
innovation; or,

(9) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved
according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; or,

(h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and
familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or,

(i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or

(i) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.
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8. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES
Please attach a bibliography.

9. NOMINATOR

Organization Tacony CDC Date
Name with Title Celeste A. Morello, MS, MA Email
Street Address 1234 S. Sheridan Street Telephone 215-334-6008

Nominator [_] is is not the property owner.

PHC USE ONLY
Date of Receipt; February 7, 2019
Correct-Complete [] Incorrect-Incomplete Date: March 13, 2019
Date of Notice Issuance; March 15, 2019

Property Owner at Time of Notice:
Name: Rev. Joseph L. Farrell, Our Lady of Consolation

Address: 7051 Tulip Street

City; Philadelphia State: PA Postal Code: 19135
Date(s) Reviewed by the Committee on Historic Designation:_April 17, 2019

Date(s) Reviewed by the Historical Commission: May 10, 2019
Date of Final Action:___May 10, 2019
Designated [ ] Rejected 12/7/18



















North wall on Unruh Street with buttresess between the
D'Ascenzo Studio's stained glass windows.

(Below) Northward view from St. Leo's School's yard of
Rectory that obscures church's south wall.
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and not yet completed when St. Leo's cornerstone was blessed on
October 4, 1884 by Archbishop Patrick J. Ryanf;the new prelate.
"Rosary" and Annunciation displayed the range of architectural
styles handled by Watson (Romanesque and a simpler "Gothic")
which were the trend in the last quarter of the 19th century.

Roman Catholic churches in Philadelphia (with the exception
of 01d St. Joseph's) are situated in locations to be seen and ad-
mired for their architecture and any artistic details. (Catholics
traditionally exert more "for the glory of God" in their work,
according to what they are taught.) The financial sacrifices
made by congregations towards the construction and embellishment
of Catholic churches are great and enforced by the pastors upon
congregants. However, in the case of St. Leo's, there was no Ed-
win F. Durang, the Archdiocese's main architect and the busiest
during that time. Instead, Durang's one-time apprentice, Watson
qualified. He had succeeded in designing the Romanesque Our Lady
of the Rosary for a luminary professor at St. Charles Borromeo
Seminary, Father James J. Loughlin, DD, who founded that parish
in West Philadelphia. (Thomas Eakins painted Loughlin's portrait
because of the priest's status within the Archdiocese.) But, at
St. Leo's, Watson seemed to have made some "short-cuts" in his
design, which looks (in out-line) suspiciously similar to the
Annunciation, Blessed Virgin Mary design in South Philadelphia.
(Refer to image.) Watson planned his design for St. Leo's well
after the laying of the cornerstone in 1884, perhaps trying to
integrate his building atop a dug foundation lying dormant until
the end of 1890. Watson submitted his plans in May of 1890, but

had to wait to execute them until that October with Cavanaugh
doing the construction work.

6Mahoney, op.cit. Also, "The Catholic Standard."
PRERBG, op.cit.
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While Frank Watson awaited for his plans to be accepted by the

St. Leo's principals in 1890, cthe Rosary church (below) proceeded
to completion and dedication in West Philadelphia.

This church would fully display details not applied at St. Leo's.

ORIGINAL CHURCH (DEDICATED 1890)
OUR LADY OF THE ROSARY CHURCH



-15-

Annunciation, BVM Church by Watson. (1501 South 10th Street)
(Photograph originally for Archdiocese's Our Faith-Filled Heritage.)

St. Leo's by Watson.
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: " BIOGRAPHY
D'Ascenzo, Nicola (1871 - 1954)

STAINED GLASS ARTIST; MURALIST, PAINTER

e R SRS TR LR A B

Born: 9/25/1871, Died: 1954

Biography from the American Architects and Buildings
database

Born in ltaly and brought to the United States at the age of 11, Nicola
D'Ascenzo was originally apprenticed to a stonecutter andto a
woodworker, but he acquired his formal training in painting in the
evenings at the Pennsylvania Academy of the Fine Aris, the

Mural Decoration for a Ball Room

Pennsylvania Museum and School of Industrial Arts {(now part of (by Nicola D'Ascenza, 189%)
Philadelphia's University of the Arts) and the New Yark School of f@;—ffn‘g’:irne:’bgor‘;gﬁ;;?399)
Design — although he did return to ltaly briefly fo study at the Scuela a8

Libera in Rome. D'Ascenzo's family had been armor makers in ltaly,

and he was talented in a wide range of ariistic endeavers, including easel painting (in fact he had
numercus exhibitions of his paintings during his lifetime} as well as those pursuits which we
associate with the studio: stained glass, mosaics, and mural painting. in an interview published in
1936 in the magazine Pennsylvania Arts and Sciences, D'Ascenzo boasted that he was earning a
fair livelihood before the age of 21 as an interior decorator; the decarations in the chance! of the
church of the Philadelphia Graphic Sketch Club (now the Fleisher Art Memorial at 7th and Catharine
sts. in Philadeiphia) were executed by him when he was 17 years old. In 1896 D'Ascenzo opened

his studio in Ludlow Street in Philadelphia, and by the 1920s he had moved the studio to 1604
Summer Street in Philadelphia.

T BIOGRAPHY
D'Ascenzo Studios (fl. ca. 1896 - 1954) N

STAINED GLASS STUDIO

Fold e Mo Slivin e

Biography from the American Architects and Buildings
database

In 1886 Nicola D'Ascenzo opened his studio on Ludliow Street in
Philadelphia, and by the 1920s he had moved the much enlarged
studio to 1604 Summer Street in Philadelphia.

During the early days before the Studio achieved ifs great successes,
D'Ascenzo himself made the first rough sketch for the design, but later
the work was a collaborative effort likened by D'Ascenzo to "an
orchestra composed of a group of artists but directed by an individual.

[Unitarian Church)
Evening Public Ledger clipping re:
chancel mosaic

ftis in the ancient guild spirit where men worked for the love of the (9/3011930) .

thing they created."” It is not surprising that we find an echo here in gt‘:zgggi‘:nscff“g'ﬁ“‘;‘é‘zl‘;‘ﬁ:'
D’Ascenzo's words of John Ruskin and the belief that the medieval Local ID # 29-P-246-006
worker differed from Ruskin's contemporaries in that he found joy in > View more images [50 fotal]

his labor.

The work of the studio extended across the country and abroad and clearly departed from the
traditional mainstay of ecclesiastical glass. The success of the D'Ascenzo Studios can be
measured, therefore, not only in the more visible projects such as the Ages of Man window installed
in the Folger Shakespeare Library in Washington, DC, or the complete installation of windows for
the Washington Memorial Chapel at Valley Forge, PA, or the windows designed for the now defunct
Horn & Hardart Autornats in New York and Philadelphia, but alsc in lesser known residential
projects stretching from the East Coast to New Mexico.

In addition to Nicola D'Ascenzo's own hand in the studio designs, the work of at least two other

artists has been identified. Both Edwin J. Sharkey (1879-1951) and David Bramnick (1892-1959)
contributed to the success of the DAscenzo Studios.

Written by Sandra L. Tatman.
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ISTORICAL SKETCHES.

| from Father Barry the oid St. Cecilia’s frame chureh
1 his¥esidence and the school,
ol, however, was not to be kept long in use for this
ttared a plan which was to allow all of the original
as a school.  He began work on the basement of a
o the residence and fronting on Allegheny Avenue,
f the most spacious and handsome in the city. The
solidly laid and the ‘basewent walls erected, he hag
on September 21, 1890,  Archbishop Ryan officiated
ott preached, There was an enormous concourse
the work pushed that the basement was dedicated
Archbishop Ryan, Father McDermott again preach-
aking a congratulatory address.
il chapel superseded and zn opportunity given for
eots.  Not only was the chapel turned into schasl-
* was added to the building, the change costing
wils thus supplied with a school that has aceommo-
ildren., The old frame chapel, too, received a new
arish hall.
it done building, however. In the spring of 1893 he
structure of the church 2nd had the masonry nearly
sus accident, that might, however, have been much
day night, October 13, 1803, a fierce hurricane blew
de wall down upon and crushed in the roof of the
of everything but the sanctuary, Though it was
¢ o'clock, yet, fortunately, there was no one in the
t have been sacrificed.  The following Sunday and
congregation had to worship in the frame chapel.
-as quickly as circumstances would permit, and the
er than they had been. Then the work was con-
rof £8¢y that on thke outside of the building was com-
s an exceptionally fine appearance, and will be
't worthy of so large and elegant a temple,
: parishioners celebrated, on June 18, 1895, the sil-
m in a way which shows unmistakably how he and
other, They presented to him n testimonial check
1g 2 memorial altar erected in the new church,

ST LEO'S, TACONY. 1

St. LeEos, Tacony, 1884,

RIOR to 1834 this parish belonged geographically to St. Dominic’s

P parish, Holmesburg, but many of the Catholics residing in Tacony

worshiped in the chapel of St. Vincent's Orphan Asylum, situated in

the village. In May of the year pamed St. Leo’s parish was formed,

and Rev. Joseph A. Strahan, assistant at the Visitation Church, was ap-

pointed as its first pastor by the then Administrator of the Diocese, Very Rev.
M. A, Walsh, LL.D.

For a time Rev. Father Strakan offered up the Holy Sacrifice in & hall
on the State Road, and rented a dwelling on the same thoroughfare as his
residence. A site for a church at Unrubh and Keystone Streets, on the
other side of the Pennsylvania Railroad, was presented by the Disston family,
and the pastor scon afterwards bought lots adjoining this. By the willing
and energetic aid of (he parishioners the excavations were soon made pre-
paratory to laying the foundations of the new church, the corner-stone of which
was blessed and laid on-October 5, 1384, by Archbishop Ryan, Rev. Thomas
J- Barry, rector of the Visitation Church, preached. The basement was cov-
ered over before the winter set in. Work was then continued on the interior
and the basement chapel was dedicated.

The building of the pastoral residence was begun in September, 1885,
and the house was cccupied the following spring. The property remained
thus until early in 1892, when Father Strahan began work on the superstruc-
ture; but he did not remair to finish it, as in September of this year he was
transferred to the more important parish of the Immaculate Conception, Jen-
kintown, left vacant by the death of Rev. Thomas W. Power. He was sue-
ceeded by Rev. Michael C. Donovan, previously of Coatesville, who resumed
the work which had been suspended and pushed it energetically until the walls
were up and under roof.

Yet it bas been left to another to complete the work, for Father Donovan
was, near the Close of November, 1894, promoted to the irremovable rector-
ship of St Pafit’s. His successoris Rev, Hubert P. AlcPhilomy, whohad been
assistant at the Visitation since his erdination. With g small and_poor con-
gregation he is working hard to furnish the parish with a temple that will bea
very preity oné when completed. Itis of the Gothic style, with an_open bell
tower, and is 60 feet wide by 140 feet long. Three adjoining doorways at
the front give entrance to the church, and the basement is reached by covered
entrances on either side.  The walls are of Stockton stone, trimmed with Tn-
diana Hmestone.  The ciurch will seat over & thonsand persons. )
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hodpo'jlen Herrn Grgbijdofs Ngan febr
feierlidh begangen. Ud)t PBriefter wnd alle
Mitglieder bed Beriwaltungsrathed ved St |
Bhucenz-Waifenhaufes Hatten fidy sum Eur |
pfange ded Jodpv'iten Herrn Lberhivten
cingefunden, der umt 2 Ubr nadmiitags
mit dem fochio. Herrn & O, Hilternann
un Waijenhaufe anfam

St Fabrve 1898 erhielt bie Waijeuhous-
Sapelle abermald gwel jGoue Heitigen-Stae
tuen gun Gejdente: Von der lichan Mutier
Hottes und bes O Antoniusg, die am erjien
Sonntage Hhu Monate Mai auigejiellt wur-
delt.

S Fahre 1899 wurde dad BL Froln-
leichnam&feft in MWaifenhoude auf eine gany
Defonderd feierlidhe MWeife Dbegengen wnd |
Datten fidy zu diejer Feier auch aud dev -
Stadt Philadelphia biele Wobhlihiter bed
Waifenhaujes eingefunden und geigt fid
boit [abr gu Jabr eine griBere Vorliebe
unter ben beutden  §Fafboliten Bhilabel
phia’s, diejed erfabene Fejt im Waifon-
Gaufe gu Dbegeben, two o3 o) bev fdonen
Sitte der alten Hetmath durdy eine feieviide
Preogejfiow im Freien durd) die cnmuthigen
ulagen ded Waifenboujes begougen rwer-
ben Fanm, _

M 19, Mai 1902 weibte Yoo, BVater
@eo. Micdhe! zwei nene Stotuen cin, die
ben OI. Bincenz de Paula und efwen L
Sdjuhengel darftellen. Diefe Deiden Sto-
tuenr wurden on der Froub-Fofjade ded
newen @ebdbed ded TWaijenhaufed ange-
Dradyt.

Reifenfolge der Priefter im - Waifenhuufe.

AlS dad Waifenhaus im WMarg ved Jabh-
ved 1857 bBegogen turde, et darin nod)
feine fapelle etmaeviditet und muptenr des-
Halh bic efrin. Sdweftern ttad) Hulnesburg
gefer, um dem BHL MeRopier beizuwol-
nen, dody bauerte daf nidt lange, da ber
chrw, Diener Gotfes Yoh. Nepomut Veus

mann, der damelige VifdoT von Philadel-
vhia, den Hodpo. Bater Franz Smei-
wer gum aplan ded Waifenhaujes ev-
wainte, der darhi aud) feine Wohmung aufe
idlng . ) -

Sodpv, Bater Emelwer webe i Jnbre
1860 wverfet und Hodw. BVater Jatfol
WMeRanghien ald jein Nadjolger er-
nannt. Dody blich diefer Pricjter nidht lange
im Waifeuhaufe, da er nod) in demielben
Sabre verfelt wurbe und den Hodiw. Vater
Sobhaun Tanger ald RNadiolger er-

Hielt
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however, did not remain long, being
transferred during the same year and
succeeded by Rev. John Tanzer. In
July, 1861, Rev. J. Tanzer was trans-
ferred, Rev. Matthew J. Mecurer suc-
ceeding hin.

Having labored seven years as chap-
lain, Rev. Meurer was transferred in
1868, and Rev. B. A. Baumcister made
his successor.

Rev. Baumeister remained until 18Gg,
in which year lie was succeeded by Rev,
F. A. Deppmann. - In the year 1872
Rev. Deppmann was transferred to
Pottsville and Rev. R. [ Kuenzer was
made his successor. Shortly after his
appointment the latter, on. account of
sickness, was obliged to ask for a pro-
longed rest. During this time the Rev-
erend Iiathers of St. Peter’s, Philadel-
phia, took charge of the spiritual wel-
fare of the Asylum. After the death of
Rev, Father Kuenzer, Rev. H. Dieterich
hecame chaplain. The tatter was trans-
ferred November 14, 1874, and Rev.
John I, Techtel made his successor.

October 20, 187g, Rev .Father I'echtel
announced that he felt in couscience
bound cither to give up his place as
chaplain or to apply to the Rev. Arch-
hishop Wood for an assistant, as it was
impossible for him to do justice to his
duties as pastor of All Saints’ Church,
in Dridesburg, and as chaplain of the
Asylum. Thercfore, through the Presi-
dent, Rev, M. Hohlaus, C. 55. R., the
Board submitled a petition to the Most
Reverend Archhishop requesting him to
give the Asylum a resident chaplain,
who at the same time could take the
pastoral charge of the German Catholics
in_Tacony. {

The Most Revercid Arch-
Dishop Zraated their petition, and Rev.
T, Gerhard lireude was appointed first
rector of St. Vincent's I'arish and self-
dependent chaplain of the Asylum.
August 2o, 1883, Rev. Father Freude
made a {rip to Kurope, During his ab-
sence Rev. Charles Scheld took his
place. April 6, 1884, Rev, lfreude re-
turned, and Rev. Scheld was transferred
to St. Paul's Church, in Reading. June
3, 1884, Rev. Father Ireudc. on account
of poor health, was compeiled to make
another trip to Europe, but returned

37
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The world moves with such tremendous speed in these modern days that
the beginnings of things are soon lost sight of in the incredible transformations
wrought by progress. A stranger visiting Tacony today would encounter only
a typical industrial town with prosperity writ large on its portals. The
glamour of its early history would in no wise hewilder his fancy, for the mys-
tery of its vanished forests and its spacious stretches of smiling meads has
long since vanished before the stern conqueror—industry., The broad bosom
of the lordly Delaware, that had lured the dreamer and maker of songs and
until then unvexed by the touch of giant commerce would appeal to him only
as the dull but convenient maritime highway to the mighty marts of the
world.  The voices of the romantic past would scarcely be heard amid the
brazen hum of throbbing shop, foundry and factory. The gaunt shadows
of silent Redmen could raise no terror in his soul, for they have been replaced
by the colossal shades of world-famed magazines of mechanical art.  Even
the memories of the gracious Quaker, Penn, have been buried insensibly
beneath the vaster and more pretentious aims of modern times, everywhere
seen in the thriving aspects of the town. No, the stranger would have passed
on, little suspecting the wealth of interest and charm that invested the very
ground on which he stood. ‘

Taconik, an old Indian name for woods, was, until the fairly recent past
what its name implies. There were, it is true, settlements along the Delaware
from Chester to the region now called Tacony in the days of Henry Hudson
(1609), which settlements were utilized by the Dutch and the Swedes for tha
purpose of trading. It still retained its pristine wildness and beauty in the
era of Penn, who, however, raised it to a distinctive position in his newly-
found colony. A visit paid to its shores so mmpressed him with the possibilities
of the site that he made it the headquarters of Thomas Fairman, his assistant
surveyor of the first plan of the city. It was the latter, who, in publishing
his first report, designated this tree-covered territory on the map as Taconik.

But it was many and many a year after this incident that development
began to assert itself as a condition of the town. At first, Tacony grew slowly,
peaceful farms occupying its splendid limits for the most. Tacony Place, later
renamed Lardner’s Point after its founder, Lynford Lardner, brother-in-law
of Richard Penn, was the first settlement made. In time another section,
called Camp Cove, was built up. below what is now Unruh Street, and State
Road on the space which, until its destruction by fire a few years ago,
accommodated the Tacony Iren Company’s, great works, and it mayv he inter-
‘esting to note in passing that the colossal statue of William Penn which now
surmounts the tower of City Hall and which some inappreciative orator has
termed “a monstrosity in bronze,” was cast in these Tacony Iron Works
about 1890; and thus the effigy of the great Founder who from the first
days of his arrival in Philadelphia looked with favor upon Tacony, is now
raised aloft with gaze fixedly and benignantly directed off to the north
upon the spot of his predilection.

Stretching off from these objectives in the direction of old Bristol pike,
which even ‘in the days of Penn came to be the great highway of travel to

_New York, was a considerable expanse of rolling land embracing the present
* Glenlock Avenue from Unruh on to Cottman—a veritable glory of towering
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CIHAPEL OF ST, VINCENTS ORPHAN ASYLUM

CHAPTER IV,
THE CRADLE OF CATHOLICITY IN TACONY

St. Vincent's as a Parish, 1858 — i87g

(""'\”’?HE Tacony Cottage Association had promised its buyers

7 the erection of a church in which they could attend ser-

P vices and hear sermons given in their mother-tongue.
&,& /j The fulfillment of that promise meant the end of a period

=R of great hardship for the settlers, Until then they were
obliged to fulfill their religious duties at St. Peter’s Church about
nine miles distant, As a rule, they started at three o'clock in the
morning.  Only when the weather was bad did they attend services
at St. Dominic’s in Holmesburg, which was but a half hour distant.
We can imagine their joy on beholding the walls of their new church
rising in 1857. The building was not yet painted, the orphans had =
not yet arrived, when the frst Sacrifice of the Mass was offered in
what is now the Board Room. Under these conditions, Father Meu-
rer celebrated his first Mass at S, Vincent’s in 1828,

e Until the beginning of St. Leo’s in 1884, St. Vincent's Chapel
was the only Catholic. Church in Tacony. UntT 108" the building
contained the only Catholic school of our suburh, 8o, St. Vincent’s
may justly be called the Cradle of Catholicity in Tacony.

THE FIRST PASTORS
Rev. John George Gmeiner, 1858 — 1859

The Rev, John George Gmeiner, has the distinetion of being
the first pastor of St. Vinecent's. We find his name for the first
time in the Baptismal Record of December 1858, This date must
therefore be considered as the beginning of Tarish-life in St. Via-
cent’s.

Father Gmeiner was born in Oberbildstein (near Drixen, Aus-
tria). on January 11, 1799, According to the notes in his diary, he
must have heen one of the best students of his class. Hven when
advanced in years he could still write and speak Latin fluently. He
was ordained on August 1, 1830, by the famous Rishop Galura, of
Brixen. In 1837 he was appointed pastor of the large parish of Sii-
berthal. where he labored for thirteen vears. In opposition to “Jo-
sephinism”, Father Gmeiner made special efforts to revive Catholic
Liturgy. He persuaded his flock to a regular attendance of Mass
on Sundays and Holydays: he bought the most heautiful vestments,
and gave each of his families “Goffine’s Handpostile”. a well kaown
exposition of the Sunday Epistles and Gospels.

In his fitieth year he came to America. and on June 21, 1853
was appointed resident pastor of St. Francis Church in Trenton, N.
J.. replacing the Redemptorist Fathers of St Peter’s. Philadelphia,
who until then had cared for the spiritual. needs of the Cerman

30







1859
1863

1865
1868
1867

1870

1871
1873
1874
1875
1876

1880
1881

1882

1684
1886

1887

lgss

Biographical Dictionary of Philadelphia Architects

St. Patrick's Ch., parochial res., Phila. .

Phila. Bd. of Public Ed., Curtin Schl., sw 20th & Catharine sts.,
Phila.

Phila. Bd. of Public Ed., Douglas Schl., sw Huntjngdon &
Browne sts., Phila.

Phila. Bd. of Public E&., MNortheast Schl., nw Crown & Race sts.,
Phila.

Our Mother of Sorrows Ch., c¢h. & schl. bldgs., 4800-4814 Lancaster
Ave., Phila- .

§t. Johannais Lutheran Ch.,, ch., l15th & Ogden sts., Phila.

Arch St. Opera Hse., 1003-~1005 Arch St., Fhila. ;f
8t. James the Greater Ch., rectory & schl., 3Bth & Chestnut sts., R R
Phila. i

St. Mary's Ch., Wilkes-Barre, PA !

Phila. B4. of Public Ed., Paxson Schl., Buttonwood St., e. of i 3
6th St., Phila. §

St. Andrew's Ch., 135 8. Sycamore St., Newtown, PA 3

Pittson Opera Hse., Pittson, PA (attributed) i g

St. Stephen's Luth. Ch., sw corner of So. Duke & Church sts., k|
Lancaster, PA (attributed) i

Sacred Heart Ch., 1406-1418 S. 3rd St., Phila.

St. Charles Borromeo Ch., 20th & Christian sts., Philsa.

8t. Agnesg Hosp., 1800 5. Broad 5t., Phila. (with Frank Watson)

Grace Bapt. Ch., Mervine & Berks sts., Phila. (completion only)

Our Lady of the Angels, Glen Riddle, Pa

St. Joseph Ch., S5t. Joseph 8t., Lancaster, PA

St. Patrick's Schl., 242 8. 20th St,, Phila.

St. Francis Ch., alts. & adds., Wanticoke, PA

Cottages {2}, U.S. Ave., Atlantic City, NJ

Eagle Hotel, alts. & adds., Lebanon, PA

Keygtone State Normal Schl., new bldg., Kutztown, PA

Little Sisters of the Poor, bldgs., Fullerton & Sheffield aves.,
Chicago, IL

Phila, Bd. of Publie Ed., Cahill Schl., Broad & Race sts., Phila.

Reading Academy of Music, 5th St., Reading, PA

Schuylkill Seminary, Fredericksburg Academy, Lebanorn Co., PA

St. John's Orphan Asylum, alte. & adds., West Phila.

5t. Joseph's Ch., Ashland, PA

St. Joseph's Protectorate, alts. & adds., Norristown, Pa

S8t. Monica's Ch., Atlantic & California aves., Atlantic City, NJ

St. Peter's Ch. Mission, Reading, PFA

Store, Locust abv. 2nd St., Columbia, PA

Beneficial Saving Fund Soc., 1202 Chestnut St., Phila.

Carpenter, C., res., Merion, P2

Jesuit College, 17th, 18th, Thompson & Stiles sts., Phila.
{demolished)

Littlehsisters of the Poor, alts. & adds., Wingohocking Sta., Gtn.,
Phila.

Our Lady of Visitation Ch., schl., south side of Lehigh Ave., bet.
Front, 2nd 5t., Phila.

Res., n. of 58th St., east of Hoffman St., Phila.

Schl., Chestnut Hill Ave,, bet. Perkiomen Tpke. & Norwood St., Phila.

St. Bridget's Ch., schl., Falls of the Schuykill, Phila.,

St. James Ch., 3728 Chesntut St., Phila.

St. Vincent de Paul Ch., pastoral res., Price St., n. of BEvans St.,
Phila.

Cheatwood Hotel, Atlantic City, NJ

Factory (picture frame), alts., 6th & Arch St., Phila.

Hse, of the Good Shepherd, alts. & adds., 50th & Pine sts., Phila.

Merchants Insurance Co., alts. & adds., sw corner of 5th & Walnut
sts., Phila,

Phila. Art Club competition (lost to F.M. Day}
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A pictorial history of Saint Leoc Church in Tacony, Philadelphia, PA
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Tacony Hall on State Road. This hal, which

was St. Leo’s temporary home, later became
this oftices of the New Era Printing Co.

then, in addition to our present Christmas, Ascension Thursday, the
feasts of the Circumcision, the Immaculate Conception, All Saints, and
the Assumption; the feasts of Corpus Christi, the Annunciation and the
Epiphany were also Holy Days, Mass was offered at 5:00 A.M. and 8:00
A.M.; there were then no noon or evening Masses for the benefit of the
working people.

Dancing, something which we take for granted today, was not looked
upon favorably. Father Strahan warned the young people to avoid
dancing and dancing schools, for “it resulted in mixed marriages, and
worse, forced marriages.”

The greatest problem of the parish, in the view of the pastor, was
alcoholism. To combat this, he established a Total Abstinence
Benevolent Society, which flourished briefly, then disappeared. This
has to be taken in the context of the times. While Father Strahan was
preaching against “Friday and Saturday debauchery”, alcoholism was
the social problem which most preoccupied America. Half of the over-
night guests of the Philadelphia Police Department were those arrested
for drunkenness. The Catholic Standard was then devoting a full page
weekly to the doings of Catholic T.A.B. societies, and in Tacony, the
Disstons were placing covenants in the deeds of all lands they sold, for-
bidding the future use of the property ... “for the manufacture or sale
of beer or liguor of any kind.” This restriction remains to this day, and
has never been successfully challenged.

Father Strahan had better fortune with some of the other societies he
fostered. The St. Leo Beneficial Society, which provided sick and death
benefits to its members, survived well into this century. Also founded
were a Rosary Society, a Purgatorial Society, and the League of the
Sacred Heart. Youth organizations were more difficult to form. The St.
Aloysius Sodality and the Cadets of Temperance quickly came and
went. Perhaps the poor children didn’t have time for social clubs. These
were not the best times for the young. First Communion preparation
classes were held at 7:00 P.M. for the benefit of those working children
who were unable to make the 4:00 P.M. class. Also, nearly half of the
deaths recorded in the parish during the early years were the deaths of
children.

Money was a constant and ever present problem. When the parish
was founded, all of the people were canvassed, and asked to pledge an
annual sum towards the building of the church. This pledge was
divided into monthly payments, and collected, first by envelope, later
by ushers at the door. There also was a weekly plate collection which
was supposed to cover normal parish operating expenses, and a
special collection each year to purchase coal. The basement was suf-
ficiently completed by Quinquagesima Sunday in 1885 for occupation,
and it was dedicated on Low Sunday of the same year. The following
year nominal pew rents were established. Those who could not afford
this were invited to make special arrangements with the pastor, wor-
shippers who did neither were expected to pay five cents seat money at
the door.

Collections were very poor. in 1884, the monthly collection for seven
months totaled $462.40, and the plate collection was $245.04. The total




A CENTURY OF SERVICE

Mary Disston

C. Maher was Prefect; Annle Delaney, First Assistant Prefect; Eliza
Clark, Second Assistant Prefect; Katie McShafer, Reader; Mary Gantz,
Treasurer; Clara Holdoffer, Music Leader: Mary Delaney, Secretary and
Consultor; and Annie Knowles, Sacristan.

Father Strahan secured the social hall on State Road for Sunday ser-
vices; this same building had been used temporarily by other new
congregations, and eventually became the offices of the New Era
Printing Company which published a local paper in Tacony for many
years. J. Harry Dorsey and Henry Piersol volunteered to clean the hall
each Saturday evening, so that it would be it for worship the next day.
Weekday devotions and parish business were conducted from Father
Strahan’s residence.

A site for a permanent church was an immediate priority. The Disston
family, which had contributed ail or part towards the building sites of
several Protestant churches, were approached on behalf of St. Lea’s by
Mr. and Mrs. Harry Parker. Every community history, and history of St.
Leo's, including those published within a decade of the event, agree
that the Disston family did donate the land. This is also the oral
tradition of the parish, which, up to this time, has been taught to every
child in 8t. Leo’s School, Yet, the deed to the property, as recorded at
Philadelphia City Hall on January 14, 1885, just as clearly states that
Mary Disston sold the property to Archbishop Patrick J. Ryan for the
sum of fifteen hundred dollars. It is possible that Mary Disston did give
the parish a discount on the purchase price, but fifteen hundred dollars
does seem to be fair market value for the six building lots involved, in
the currency of the times. This parcel of land was a portion of the Green
Estate, which had been purchased by Mary Disston two years earlier for
$100,000. The ground chosen was the land the church proper now oc-
cupies. At the time, it was located on the western edge of Catholic
Tacony; population shifts soon made this the eastern edge. Additional
land was purchased by Father Strahan from William Costigan. This
land was eventually used as a site for the rectory.

Frank R. Watson, a Philadelphia architect, drew up plans for the new
church. His design called for a church one hundred thirty-two feet long,
by fifty-seven feet wide. The edifice was to be of stone quarried in
Stockton, New Jersey, and from ground level to the top of the cross it
would be ninety-five feet. There was to be a lower church with a seating
capacity of nine hundred, and an upper church designed to hold over
one thousand worshippers. The seating capacity is much less today,
probably because the aisles then were much narrower: the center aisle
was five feet, and the two side aisles only two and one half feet in wid-
th. [t is interesting to note that the original ptans did call for a bellin the
tower; yet one has never been installed. Parish tradition has it that this
was omitted because the Disston family did not approve of church
bells.

On the Fifth Sunday after Pentecost, Father Strahan invited the men
of the parish to attend the ground-breaking ceremony the following
Tuesday, at eight o'clock. This was not a ceremonial invitation. It was,
“Bring your pick and shovel, men.” Over the next two weeks the entire
basement was dug; some help was also received from “volunteers”




FATHER MICHAEL C. DONOVAN
1892-1894

The second pastor of the Church of St. Leo had one thing in common
with many of his parishioners-—he was a native of lrefand. Born in
County Cork, he migrated to this country at age seventeen. He had
received some education in freland, and enrolled in Professor Edwarg
Roth’s Broad Street Academy when he settled in Philadelphia. He en-
tered St. Charles Seminary in 1875. Following his ordination by Bishop
Shanahan of Pittsburgh, he was assigned as a curate to St. Joachim’s
Parish. He also assisted at St. Cecilia's, Coatesville, for three vears
prior to receiving the pastorship of St. Leo’s.

Father Donovan's stay at St. Leo’s was short, but during his two
years as pastor he raised $17,000.00 and completed the exterior of the
church. There were then about 1,000 Catholic souls in the parish.
During these years Fathers James A. Hogan, William Motley, John J.
Denvir and Patrick J. Hannigan assisted in the parish. Sadlier's
National Catholic Directory lists Si. Leo’s as having a school with 40
pupils, served by the School Sisters of Notre Dame. There was, in fact,
no such school. The School Sisters of Notre Dame did staff St. Vin-
cent’s Orphanage, and it is possible that this and subsequent listings
refer to day students at the orphanage. However, given the number, it is
more likely that the listing refers to chiidren enrolled in catechism
classes at St. Leo’s. The Sisters at the orphanage may have been giving
them religious instruction.

In 1894, Father Donovan was appointed pastor of 5t. Paul’s in South
Philadelphia, where he served the ltalian immigrant community for
eighteen years. He became pastor of St. Agatha’s in West Philadelphia
in 1912, and was created a domestic prelate by Pope Benedict XV in

April of 1821. Monsignor Donovan was called to his heavenly reward on
June 11, 1927.

FATHER HUBERT McPHILOMY
1894-1898

Father Hubert McPhilomy was no stranger to St. Leo’s when he was
appointed rector in 1894. Early records list him as preaching from time
to time during the tenure of Father Strahan. Born in Philadeiphia in
1859, he attended St. Paul’s, Tenth and Christian Streets, and Annun-
ciation, Tenth and Dickinson Sireets. He was also enrolled at LaSalle
College prior to his admittance to St. Charles Seminary in 1876. His first
assignment, afier his ordination by Archbishop Ryan in 1885, was to
Visitation Parish, Front Street and Lehigh Avenue. He served at that
church until his appointment as pastor of St. Leo's in 1894. A capable
administrator, he raised over $20,000.00 for the completion of the
church, which finally accomplished during his term. The highlights
were the lovely stained glass windows, handsome murals, which,
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ASSESSMENT AND TAXES

According to the website of the City of Philadelphia’s Office of Property

Assessment of Taxes, the 2018 property assessment for 6658 Keystone Street as
follows:

Land $70,224
Improvements $299.376
Total $369,600

The current tax rate in Philadelphia is $1,399.80 per $100,000 of assessed

valuation. Applying this rate to the total assessment of $369,600 provides an annual
tax levy of $5,173.66.

HISTORY OF TITLE

According to the last Deed of Record, also known as Deed of Subdivision, the
subject property is titled to Reverend Joseph L. Farrell, solely as Pastor of Our Lady of
Consolation Parish and most Reverend Charles J. Chaput, O.F.M. Cap, Archbishop of
Philadelphia by His Agent Reverend Monsignor Daniel J. Kutys, Attorney-InFact, by
instrument dated March 27, 2017. Consideration was nominal as recorded at
Document No. 53204729 on April 27, 2017. This was an internal transfer of title upon
subdivision of the larger site into two, creating 4900 Unruh Avenue. The site of which

the subject is part was originally acquired October 2, 1884 by the Most Reverend
Patrick John Ryan from Mary Disston.

2017-10776




rganizations which marched in ihe clvic parade, four appear to have
ad Catholic origins. These were the St. Patrick Alliance, The St. Leo’s
seneficial Society, The Ancient Order of Hibernians, and The Hamilton
satholic Club. There is no information on the St. Patrick Alliance. The
st. Leo Beneficial Society, as has already been noted, was a parish sick
ind death benefit society.

Division 39, Ancient Order of Hibernians was chartered in 1889;
joseph McKeown was the first President; Patrick Conway, Vice
yesident; John Mulholland, Recording Secretary, Patrick Lester,
sinancial Secretary; and Patrick Connors, Treasurer. Although the
8.0.H. had no officiat church ties, the membership was made up of
jood and loyal Catholics. The early history of Division 38, A.O.H,, is
also a history of service to St. Leo’s Parish.

The Hamilton Catholic Club was a social club for young Catholic
men which flourished in the early years of this century. 1t had been
organized in 1901, and took its name from the location of the
clubhouse, on Hamilton Street. Club members participated in sports
and conducted theatrics. Lawrence Carroli was the first president; the
other officers included: Joseph Furphy, Aubrey Grant, Eugene McKin-
ney, William Kalblein, Thomas Corcoran and Harry Kane, who had been
the first child - baptized in the parish. The club was open to young men
eighteen and over; initiation fee was one doliar and weekly dues were
twenty-five cents. Members passed to honorary status upon marriage.

Father Rogers had a special interest in St. Francis Industrial Schogl,
the training school for indigent boys run by the Drexel sisters in Ed-
dington, three miles north of Gity Line. Father would take some of the
boys of the parish up to St. Francis where they would play ball with the
boys of the school. He took a special liking to one young lad at the
school, and eventually brought him back to live at the rectory. Alfred
Mullin remained a life-long resident of Tacony, and never forgot Father
Rogers’ kindness to him. His daughter, Berenice Mullin Lamey still has
in her possession a handsome crucifix which had belonged to Father
Rogers.

By 1908, Father Rogers felt the parish was in a position to begin the
construction of the much needed school. The building was modest by
today’s standards. It had only four rooms, located in that section of the
present school complex which is closest to the church. The Sisters of
St. Joseph agreed to staff the new school when completed; it followed
" then that Father Rogers also had to prepare a convent for them. The
- building which is now the rectory was constructed, and when it was
- finished, Father Rogers, his assistant, Father Hugh Trimbie, and Alfred
~ Muliin moved into the new building and left the old rectory for the nuns.
- If this suggests a lack of chivalry, things are not always as they seem. It
- is a tradition of the convent that the new residence, which faced the
. park, was intended to be the convent. When the Mother Superior of the
- Sisters of St. Joseph learned of this, she objected. Some claim she fell
the park would distract the sisters, others that she thought that the
“nuns would lack the privacy they required. in any case, object she did;
‘and Father Rogers, always the gentleman, graciously consented to give

is own quarters to the nuns. All things considered, he probably got the
best of the deal.

PRIESTLY VOCATIONS
FROM SAINT LEO PARISH

1901
1917
1920
1924
1927
1928
1930
1933
1933
1934

1936
1940
1940
1941
1950
1953
1953
1956
1958
1860
1962
1963

1965
1971
1972

1875

1976
1979
1981
1984

Archbishop Daniel J. Gercke

Father John H. McCloskey, 0.5.A.

Father Daniel Lannon, C.M.

Father Thomas L. Carroll

Father Charles McCarron, O.8.A.

Father James Farrell

Father Lawrence Maher

Father Richard B. Ward

Father Joseph Watson, C.M.

Father Sylvan Brennan, C.P.
{James Brennan)

Father Joseph H. Ruane

Mansignor Thomas Rilley

Father Thomas Doyle

Father Aloysius Gaffigan, 0.5.F.S.

Father Raymend Denahue

Father John Rilley
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as Pastor of St. Leo Roman Catholic Parish and not in his private or individual capacity and with
the permission of Cardinal Justin Rigali, in his capacity as Archbishop of Philadelphia and not in
his private or individual capacity conveyed in fee unto Reverend John J. Farry, in his capacity as
Pastor of St. Leo Roman Catholic Parish and not in his private or individual capacity and with the
permission of Cardinal Justin Rigali, in his capacity as Archbishop of Philadelphia and not in his
private or individual capacity, by his Atiorney in Fact Most Reverend Joseph R. Cistone, D.D.,
V.G

WHEREAS, by Confirmatory Deed dated May 28, 2008 and recorded on October 7, 2008
in Philadelphia County as Document No. 51976200 Reverend John [, Farry, in his capacity

as Pastor of St. Leo Roman Catholic Parish and not in his private or individual capacity and with
the permission of Cardinal Justin Rigali, in his capacity as Archbishop of Philadelphia and not in
his private or individual capacity conveyed in fee unto Reverend John J. Farry, in his capacity as
Pastor of St. Leo Roman Catholic Parish and not in his private or individual capacity and with the
permission of Cardinal Justin Rigali, in his capacity as Archbishop of Philadelphia and not in his
private or individual capacity, by his Attorney in Fact Most Reverend Joseph R. Cistone, D.D.,
V.G,

W HEREAS, by Deed of Subdivision dated October 2", 2015 and recorded on October 13,
2015 in Philadelphia County by the Philadelphia Recorder of Deeds as Document Number
52975978, Reverend Joseph L. Farrell, in his capacity as Pastor of Our Lady of Consolalion and
not in his private or individual capacity and with the permission of the Most Reverend Charles J.
Chaput, O.F.M. Cap., Archbishop pf Philadelphia and not in his individual capacity memorialized
the subdivision and relocation of the lot lines of Parcel 1 mentioned in accordance with the Site
Plan (CP-+278) made by Trancis J. McAnaney, IlI, P.L.S., Surveyor and Regulator of the Fifth
Survey District, dated July, 2015, into two separate lots, known as Parcel 2 and Parcel 3.

WHEREAS, St. Leo Roman Catholic Parish has merged with Our Lady of Consolation
Roman Catholic Parish;

WHEREAS, by the purpose of this Indenfure is to memorialize the subdivision and
relocation of the lot lines of Parcel 2, mentioned herein in accordance with the Site Plan (CP-#278)
made by Francis J. McAnaney, III, P.L.S,, Surveyor and Regulator of the Fifth Survey District,
dated December 4, 2015, into two separate lots, known as Parcel 4 and Parcel 5.

WITNESSETH, that the said Grantor for and in consideration of the sum of ONE
DOLLAR ($1.00) lawful money of the United States of Americe, unto it well and duly paid by
the said Grantee, at or before the sealing a delivery of this Deed, the receipt whereof is hereby
acknowledged, has granted, bargained, sold, aliened, enfeoffed and confirmed, and by this Deed
does prant, bargain, scll, alien, enfeoff, release and confirm unto said Grantee, its successors and
assigns, the following real property, to wit:

Parcel 4

The legal description of Parcel 4 is attached hereto as EXHIBIT “A” and is incorporated herein
by reference,

Being known as 6658 Keystone Street, Philadelphia, PA 19135 (OPA Number 77-8-1980-32)




